### Court of Appeals No. 43179-3-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### **STATE OF WASHINGTON**

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

#### LORENZO WEBB,

Defendant/Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County, Cause No. 10-1-02833-3 The Honorable Edmund Murphy, Presiding Judge

> Sheri Arnold, WSBA No. 18760 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 7718 Tacoma, Washington 98417 (253) 683-1124

## **

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Webb was a persistent offender.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Webb's 1982 and 1992 convictions for assault were strike offenses.
- 3. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction for assault in the second degree was constitutionally valid.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is Mr. Webb a persistent offender where neither of his two prior second degree assault convictions meet the definition of a strike offense? (Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, and 3)
- 2. Did the trial court err in finding that Mr. Webb's 1982 and 1992 convictions for second degree assault were comparable to the current offense of second degree assault? (Assignment of Error No. 2)
- 3. Did the trial court err in finding that Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction for second degree assault was constitutionally valid? (Assignment of Error No. 3)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual and Procedural Background

On July 6, 2010, Lorenzo Webb was charged with one count of assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon and also with deadly weapon and domestic violence aggravators. CP 1-2. The victim of the crime was Ms. Georgia Phelps. CP 3-4.

On May 18, 2011, the charge against Mr. Webb was amended to assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon and with deadly weapon and domestic violence aggravators, and in the alternative assault in the second degree through intentional and reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm with deadly weapon and domestic violence aggravators. CP 12-13.

The jury found Mr. Webb guilty of assault in the second degree, found that Mr. Webb and Ms. Phelps were members of the same household, and found that Mr. Webb intentionally assaulted Ms. Phelps and thereby recklessly inflicted substantial bodily harm. CP 132, 133, 135.

In his sentencing Memorandum, Mr. Webb argued that the court should not find that he is a persistent offender because his 1982 and 1992 convictions for assault in the second degree were not comparable to strike offenses and that the 1992 assault conviction was constitutionally invalid since the amended information recited the language of the 1988 statute which was no longer in effect in 1992. CP 145-153.

Mr. Webb also filed a Motion for Arrest of Judgment, New Trial And/Or Relief From Judgment. CP 154-158. Mr. Webb argued that the case of *State v. McKague*, 172 Wn.2d 802, 262 P.3d 1225 (2011), decided

after the verdict in Mr. Webb's case, represented a significant change in the law which warranted a new trial for Mr. Webb. CP 154-158.

At Mr. Webb's sentencing hearing, the trial court expressed concern about whether or not Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction for second degree assault was valid where the statutory language he pled guilty to violating was from the 1988 version of the assault statute and had been superseded. RP 426-427.

Mr. Webb filed a supplemental sentencing memorandum discussing the validity of the 1992 conviction. CP 226-230.

The trial court found that Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction was valid and found that both his prior assault convictions counted as strike offenses. RP 444-453. The trial court found Mr. Webb was a persistent offender and sentenced Mr. Webb to life imprisonment with no possibility of parole. RP 453, 455; CP 240-253.

Notice of appeal was filed on March 9, 2012. CP 279-281.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

An offender convicted of a "most serious offense" must be sentenced to life imprisonment without early release if he has at least two prior convictions for most serious offenses and those prior convictions would be included in his current offender score under RCW 9.94A.525.

RCW 9.94A.030(37)(a)(i)-(ii); RCW 9.94A.570. A "most serious

offense" includes "[a]ny felony offense in effect at any time prior to December 2, 1993, that is comparable to a most serious offense." RCW 9.94A.030(32)(a), (o), (u). RCW 9.94A.030(32)(b) classifies assault in the second degree as a "most serious offense." RCW 9.94A.030(t) includes any felony conviction with a deadly weapon verdict under RCW 9.94A.825 in the definition of "most serious offense." Offenses to be included in the offender score under RCW 9.94A.525 include class A felonies and some class B and class C felonies. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(a)-(c).

Here, the trial court found that Mr. Webb was a persistent offender based on his 1982 and 1992 convictions for second degree assault. RP 444-453. As will be discussed below, the trial court's decision was in error.

1. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Webb's 1982 conviction for second degree assault was comparable to a "most serious offense" and, therefore, was a strike offense.

The trial court's decision whether to consider a prior conviction a first strike for the purposes of POAA is reviewed de novo. *State v. Carpenter*, 117 Wn.App. 673, 679, 72 P.3d 784 (2003).

In 1982, Mr. Webb pled guilty to one count of second degree assault in violation of former RCW 9A.36.020(1)(b). In 1982, a person committed assault in the second degree under RCW 9A.36.020(1)(b)

when that person "knowingly inflict[ed] grievous bodily harm upon another with or without a weapon." CP 193.

"Grievous bodily harm" was defined as "a hurt or injury calculated to interfere with the health or comfort of the person injured; it need not necessarily be an injury of a permanent character. By 'grievous' is meant atrocious, aggravating, harmful, painful, hard to bear, serious in nature."

State v. Salinas, 87 Wn.2d 112, 121, 549 P.2d 712 (1976).

In his statement on his plea if guilty to the 1982 assault charge, Mr. Webb characterized the assault as follows: "[I] hit Mr. Ritter in the face causing injury." RP 448; CP 187. Thus, it is clear that the 1982 assault did not involve a deadly weapon. Accordingly, in order for Mr. Webb's 1982 second degree assault conviction to meet the definition of a "most serious offense" and therefore count as a "strike offense," the conviction would have to comparable to a second degree assault conviction under the version of RCW 9A.36.021 in effect on July 2, 2010, the date Mr. Webb assaulted Ms. Phelps. CP 1-2; RCW 9.94A.345; *State v. Varga*, 151 Wn.2d 179, 191, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) ("We have repeatedly held that sentencing courts must "look to the statute in effect at the time [the defendant] committed the [current] crimes" when determining defendants' sentences.").

The version of RCW 9A.36.021 in effect on July 2, 2010, read as follows:

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree:
  - (a) Intentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm; or
  - (b) Intentionally and unlawfully causes substantial bodily harm to an unborn quick child by intentionally and unlawfully inflicting any injury upon the mother of such child; or
  - (c) Assaults another with a deadly weapon; or
  - (d) With intent to inflict bodily harm, administers to or causes to be taken by another, poison or any other destructive or noxious substance; or
  - (e) With intent to commit a felony, assaults another; or
  - (f) Knowingly inflicts bodily harm which by design causes such pain or agony as to be the equivalent of that produced by torture; or
  - (g) Assaults another by strangulation.
- (2)(a) Except as provided in (b) of this subsection, assault in the second degree is a class B felony.
  - (b) Assault in the second degree with a finding of sexual motivation under RCW 9.94A.835 or 13.40.135 is a class A felony.

The means of committing second degree assault that most closely matches the facts of the 1982 assault is intentionally assaulting another

and thereby recklessly inflicting substantial bodily harm under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). However, for the reasons stated below, Mr. Webb's 1982 second degree assault conviction is not comparable to a conviction under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). Rather, Mr. Webb's 1982 assault conviction is most comparable to assault in the third degree under RCW 9A.36.031(d) or (f).

a. The mens rea elements of the 1982 assault statute and the current RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) are not comparable.

Mr. Webb was convicted in 1982 of "knowingly inflicting grievous bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) penalizes intentionally assaulting another.

RCW 9A.08.010 defines four levels of culpability applicable to the Washington criminal code: intentionally, knowingly, recklessly, and criminally negligent. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a). A person acts with knowledge when he is aware of a fact, facts, or circumstances or result described by a statute defining an offense, or he has information which would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist which facts are described by a statute defining an offense. RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(i) and (ii). A person acts with intent or intentionally when he acts with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime. RCW 9A.08.010.

In City of Spokane v. White, 102 Wn.App. 955, 10 P.3d 1095 (2000), review denied 143 Wn.2d 1011, 21 P.3d 291 (2001), the court explicitly held that the mental state of performing an act "willfully equates with knowingly...[and] knowingly is a less serious form of mental culpability than intent." White, 102 Wn.App. at 961, 10 P.3d 1095. See also RCW 9A.08.010(2) (when acting knowingly suffices to establish an element of a statute, such element also is established if a person acts intentionally, but not vice versa).

Thus, as a matter of law, performing an act knowingly is not comparable to performing an act intentionally. Accordingly, Mr. Webb's 1982 conviction for *knowingly* inflicting grievous bodily harm was punishment for a less culpable act than *intentionally* assaulting another and the 182 conviction is not comparable to a conviction under current RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a).

b. The requisite harm to be inflicted upon the victim is not comparable between the 1982 and 2010 versions of the assault statute.

Mr. Webb was convicted in 1982 of "knowingly inflicting grievous bodily harm." RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) penalizes intentionally assaulting another and thereby recklessly inflicting substantial bodily harm. As stated above, "grievous bodily harm" was defined as "a hurt or injury calculated to interfere with the health or comfort of the person

injured; it need not necessarily be an injury of a permanent character. By 'grievous' is meant atrocious, aggravating, harmful, painful, hard to bear, serious in nature." *Salinas*, 87 Wn.2d at 121, 549 P.2d 712.

In contrast, "substantial bodily harm means bodily injury that involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or that causes a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or that causes a fracture of any bodily part." RCW 9A.04.110(4)(b).

In *State v. Hovig*, 149 Wn.App. 1, 202 P.3d 318, *review denied* 166 Wn.2d 1020, 217 P.3d 335 (2009), this court recognized that pain is no longer an element of the crime of second degree assault, thus differentiating the 1982 crime from the 2010 crime. *Hovig*, 149 Wn.App. at 11, 202 P.3d 318. Indeed, when the legislature characterized an assault that causes "substantial pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering" as assault in the third degree in RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f), it is clear that it intended to modify how harshly assaults that only caused pain would be punished.

Given the broadness of the universe of acts which could potentially constitute second degree assault in 1982, and given the legislature's intentional removal of pain as an element of assault in the second degree and definition of assault in the third degree, it is clear that the legislature

sought to punish minor assaults, such as Mr. Webb's act of punching a man in the face, less harshly than a second degree assault. The 1982 version of the second degree assault statute encompassed a broader range of assaultive behavior than does the 2010 second degree assault statute. Thus, the crimes defined by the statutes are not comparable.

c. Mr. Webb's conduct leading to his 1982 conviction is more comparable to the current offense of assault in the third degree.

While counsel for Mr. Webb was unable to find any case discussing the standards to be applied when comparing pre-1993 felony convictions to post-1993 statutes, when comparing the elements of crimes of foreign jurisdictions to Washington crimes, if the foreign offense is broader than the Washington offense, courts must consider whether the foreign offense was factually comparable "by determining whether the defendant's conduct would have violated a Washington statute." *State v. Jordan*, 158 Wn.App. 297, 300, 241 P.3d 464 (2010).

The facts of Mr. Webb's 1982 assault, simply punching a man in the face, make clear that Mr. Webb's assaultive behavior is fairly de minimis when compared to the realm of potentially assaultive behavior. The record below reveals only that Mr. Webb punched a man in the face, causing injury. RP 448; CP 187. The record does not reveal the extent or seriousness of the injury. However, given that the 1982 statute equated

merely "painful" to "grievous," it is entirely likely that Mr. Webb's conduct was comparably innocuous.

Punching someone in the face and causing injury is far more comparable to the current crime of assault in the third degree as defined in RCW 9A.36.031(1)(f): "A person is guilty of assault in the third degree if he or she...with criminal negligence, causes bodily harm accompanied by pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering."

d. Mr. Webb's 1982 offense is not a strike offense.

As discussed above, Mr. Webb's 1982 conviction is more comparable to the current crime of assault in the third degree that it is comparable to the current crime of assault in the second degree.

Accordingly, Mr. Webb's 1982 conviction is not a most serious offense and cannot, therefore, constitute a strike offense.

2. Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction for second degree assault is also not comparable to the 2010 version of second degree assault.

In 1992, Mr. Webb pled guilty to the crime of second degree assault. However, the charging document under which Mr. Webb pled guilty listed the elements of second degree assault as they existed prior to July 1, 1988, not as they existed in 1992. CP 145-153, 226-230. Specifically, Mr. Webb pled guilty to committing second degree assault

by "knowingly inflict[ing] grievous bodily harm" upon the victim. CP 150.

For the same reasons as discussed above regarding Mr. Webb's 1982 assault conviction, Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction is not comparable to the 2010 crime of second degree assault.

3. The trial court erred in considering Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction when determining Mr. Webb's sentencing where the 1992 conviction is unconstitutional on its face.

A prior conviction which is invalid on its face may not be considered in a sentencing proceeding. *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187-188, 713 P.2d 719, *cert. denied Ammons v. Washington*, 479 U.S. 930, 107 S.Ct. 398, 93 L.Ed.2d 351 (1986). Constitutionally invalid on its face means a conviction which without further elaboration evidences infirmities of a constitutional magnitude. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 188, 713 P.2d 719.

A judgment and sentence is clearly invalid on its face if it is for a crime that did not exist at the time. *In re Personal Restraint of Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d 712, 719, 10 P.3d 380 (2000).

The 1989 version of RCW 9A.36.020 clearly indicates that the statutory language criminalizing "knowingly inflicting grievous bodily harm" is effective until July 1, 1988. In 1988 RCW 9A.36.020 was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the 1989 version of RCW 9A.36.020 is attached in the appendix to this brief.

repealed and RCW 9A.36.021 was enacted.<sup>2</sup> As discussed above, these two statutes had different statutory language and different elements. RCW 9A.36.021 was not simply a recodification of RCW 9A.36.020.

In *Thompson*, the defendant pled guilty to a crime which did not come into existence until almost two years after the conduct occurred. *Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d at 719, 10 P.3d 380. The Supreme Court vacated Thompson's convictions and found that the judgment and sentence was invalid on its face. *Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d at 719, 730, 10 P.3d 380. In so holding, the Supreme Court rejected the State's argument that Thompson should be treated as if he had pled guilty to another crime which did exist at the time of the conduct. *Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d at 721-722, 10 P.3d 380.

While *Thompson* dealt with a situation where a defendant pled guilty to a crime that did not exist at the time the offense was committed, Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction is a situation where Mr. Webb pled guilty to a crime that had *ceased* to exist *prior* to the offense being committed. However, the same logic applies -- Mr. Webb pled guilty to a crime that did not exist at the time of the offense, therefore the judgment and sentence is invalid on its face and cannot be used by a subsequent court at sentencing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of the 1989 version of RCW 9A.36.021 is attached in the appendix to this brief.

Because Mr. Webb pled guilty to a crime that did not exist at the time of his criminal conduct, the judgment and sentence relating to that conviction is invalid on its face. The trial court erred in considering Mr. Webb's 1992 conviction at sentencing where the judgment and sentence for that crime was invalid on its face.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should vacate Mr. Webb's sentence and remand for resentencing without consideration of the constitutionally invalid 1992 conviction and with consideration of the 1982 conviction as being comparable to assault in the third degree.