NO. 43179-3

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

LORENZO WEBB, APPELLANT

---

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Edmund Murphy, Presiding Judge

No. 10-1-02833-3

---

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
KATHLEEN PROCTOR  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

The current statute proscribing assault in the second degree set forth a number of alternative means of committing that offense:

1) A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree:

(a) Intentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm; or

(b) Intentionally and unlawfully causes substantial bodily harm to an unborn quick child by intentionally and unlawfully inflicting any injury upon the mother of such child; or

(c) Assaults another with a deadly weapon; or

(d) With intent to inflict bodily harm, administers to or causes to be taken by another, poison or any other destructive or noxious substance; or

(e) With intent to commit a felony, assaults another;  
or

(f) Knowingly inflicts bodily harm which by design causes such pain or agony as to be the equivalent of that produced by torture; or

(g) Assaults another by strangulation or suffocation.

RCW 9A.36.021. The Legislature defined “substantial bodily harm” as meaning “bodily injury which involves a temporary but substantial disfigurement, or which causes a temporary but substantial loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ, or which causes a fracture of any bodily part.” RCW 9A.04.110(4)(b). In 1975, the Legislature defined four kinds of culpability- intent, knowledge, recklessness, and criminal negligence. RCW 9A.08.010. Under the statute, “[w]hen recklessness suffices to establish an element, such element also is established if a person acts intentionally or knowingly. RCW 9A.08.010(2).

The trial court found that the 1982 conviction was comparable to current means of committing assault in the second degree by “intentionally assault[ing] another and thereby recklessly inflict[ing] substantial bodily harm under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). *See* RP 449-450; CP 282-287. The court reasoned that the definition of assault required an intentional act in 1982, which is equivalent to “intentionally assaults” element of the current statute. *Id.* It further found that the element of “reckless infliction of substantial bodily harm” required a lesser culpability level than the 1982 offense so that it was satisfied by the 1982 element of “knowing infliction



of grievous bodily harm.” *Id.* The court also found that grievous or great bodily harm was equivalent to “substantial bodily harm.” Consequently, the court found that the 1982 crime was legally comparable to the current assault in the second degree which is a most serious offense. *Id.* The trial court further found that defendant was an “offender” when he committed this offense and that the conviction did not wash-out; these findings are unchallenged. CP 282-287.

Defendant fails to show any error in the court’s analysis. He contends that the 1982 crime did not require an intentional act but he fails to address that the definition of assault in Washington has remained constant and has always required an intentional act. *See State v. Hopper*, 118 Wn.2d 151, 158-159, 822 P.2d 775 (1992), *see also, State v. Ashcraft*, 71 Wn. App. 444, 453-54, 859 P.2d 60 (1993)(“we also note that a difference in the use of the terms “knowingly” and “intentionally” between the [former and post- July 1988 assault in the second degree] statutes does not change the effect of the law. For purposes of assault, ‘knowingly’ has been deemed equivalent to ‘intentionally.’ RCW 9A.08.010(2).”).

Defendant further relies upon *State v. Hovig*, 149 Wn. App. 1, 202 P.3d 318 (2009) for the contention that as pain is no longer an element of the crime of assault in the second degree, that the injury required in 1982 is not comparable to the injury needed for a post-December, 1993 assault in the second degree. While it may be true that pain need no longer be

shown, it is likely that pain will be a component of substantial bodily injury. Defendant fails to explain how grievous bodily injury, which is an injury or hurt calculated to interfere with the health or comfort of a person because it is painful or hard to bear, would not also meet the definition of substantial bodily injury, which is an injury that causes a temporary but substantial disfigurement or loss or impairment of the function of any body part. Consequently, his arguments fail.

Besides the legal comparability, the defendant admitted that he “hit Mr. Ritter in the face causing injury” which acknowledges an intentional act of assault in fact. As the “intentional act” requirement is also satisfied by the defendant’s admissions at the time of his plea ,and the injury required is legally comparable, the court’s ruling should be upheld.

b. The Court Properly Found That The 1992 Conviction For Assault In The Second Degree Was Comparable To The Current Assault In The Second Degree

The State submitted a certified copy of defendant’s 1992 conviction for assault in the second degree in Pierce County Cause No. 92-1-02264-0. EX 3D; RP 384. The judgment indicates that it concerns an assault in the second degree with a deadly weapon finding under RCW 9A.36.020(1)(b) and 9A.94A.310 and .370. EX 3D. Defendant pleaded guilty to an amended information; the amended information charged

defendant with violating 9A.36.020(1)(b), by knowingly inflicting grievous bodily harm upon Karen A. Rembert with a weapon - to wit: a knife. EX 3B. In defendant's guilty plea statement he admitted that in April 1992, he "got into an argument with Karen Rembert over drugs and caused serious injury to her with a knife." EX 3C. Defendant received a sentence that included an additional 12 months<sup>3</sup> for the deadly weapon finding. EX 3D.

In 1992, the assault in the second degree statute read:

1) A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree:

(a) Intentionally assaults another and thereby recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm; or

(b) Intentionally and unlawfully causes substantial bodily harm to an unborn quick child by intentionally and unlawfully inflicting any injury upon the mother of such child; or

(c) Assaults another with a deadly weapon; or

(d) With intent to inflict bodily harm, administers to or causes to be taken by another, poison, the human immunodeficiency virus as defined in chapter 70.24 RCW, or any other destructive or noxious substance; or

(e) With intent to inflict bodily harm, exposes or transmits human immunodeficiency virus as defined in chapter 70.24 RCW; or

---

<sup>3</sup> The judgment reflects that defendant's standard range was 33-43 months, and that 12 months should be added for the deadly weapon finding. Defendant received a sentence of 55 months. EX 3D.

(f) With intent to commit a felony, assaults another; or

(g) Knowingly inflicts bodily harm which by design causes such pain or agony as to be the equivalent of that produced by torture.

RCW 9A.36.021; Laws 1988, ch. 158, § 2, ch. 206, § 916, ch. 266, § 2 (eff. July 1, 1988).

The court below noted that “assaulting another with a deadly weapon” was a means of committing assault in the second degree both prior to and after December 2, 1993, making this means a “most serious offense” even if committed prior to December 2, 1993. RP 443. The court noted that defendant admitted to assaulting another person with a knife in his plea, and his plea to assault in the second degree also included a plea to a deadly weapon enhancement.<sup>4</sup> RP 443. Thus, the court correctly found that legally and factually this 1992 crime was comparable to the assault with a deadly weapon means of committing assault in the second degree. The court’s ruling could also be sustained as defendant’s 1992 conviction was a felony with a deadly weapon enhancement which makes it comparable to a “felony with a deadly weapon finding” which is a most serious offense under RCW 9.94A.030(32)(t).

---

<sup>4</sup> While the 1992 charging language did not mirror the language in RCW 9A.36.021, the court found that it was sufficient to apprise defendant of the essential elements of assault in the second degree and that it was clear to defendant that he was pleading guilty to an assault with a deadly weapon. RP 442- 444. See, *State v. Hopper*, 118 Wn.2d 151, 822 P.2d 775 (1992); *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

The trial court further found that defendant was an “offender” when he committed this offense and that the conviction did not wash-out; these findings are unchallenged. CP 282-287. Thus, the trial court properly included this as a prior most serious offense.

The trial court’s determination that defendant’s 1982 and 1992 convictions were comparable to most serious offenses should be upheld.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED DEFENDANT’S ARGUMENT THAT HIS 1994 JUDGMENT WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INVALID ON ITS FACE.

A defendant’s criminal history is used to determine the offender score which in turn is used to determine the applicable presumptive standard sentence range. *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187, 713 P.2d 719 (1986), *cert. denied*, 479 U.S. 930, 107 S. Ct. 398, 93 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1986). The State must prove the defendant’s criminal history by a preponderance of the evidence. RCW 9.94A.500(1). “Criminal history” means the list of a defendant’s prior convictions. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 185. While the best evidence of a prior conviction is a certified copy of the judgment, the State may also introduce “other comparable documents of record or transcripts of prior proceedings.” *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 480, 973 P.2d 452 (1999).

The State does not have the affirmative burden of proving the constitutional validity of a prior conviction before it can be used in a

sentencing proceeding. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187. The *Ammons* court stressed the policy reasons behind this rule:

To require the State to prove the constitutional validity of prior convictions before they could be used would turn the sentencing proceeding into an appellate review of all prior convictions. The defendant has no right to contest a prior conviction at a subsequent sentencing. To allow an attack at that point would unduly and unjustifiably overburden the sentencing court. The defendant has available, more appropriate arenas for the determination of the constitutional validity of a prior conviction. The defendant must use established avenues of challenge provided for post-conviction relief. A defendant who is successful through these avenues can be resentenced without the unconstitutional conviction being considered.

*Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 188. The court articulated that for the conviction to be constitutionally invalid on its face, the conviction must affirmatively show that the defendant's rights were violated. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 189.

A sentencing court may not consider a prior conviction that has been previously determined to have been unconstitutionally obtained or that is constitutionally invalid on its face. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 187-188. There is a distinction in the law between a judgment that shows *facial constitutional invalidity*, which is relevant to a challenge to the use of a prior conviction at a sentencing hearing and a judgment that is *invalid on its face*, which might be relevant in determining whether a time bar is applicable to an untimely collateral attack. The analysis used to

determine facial constitutional invalidity differs from that used to determine whether a judgment is invalid on its face.

Both the United States and Washington Supreme Courts have addressed what constitutes facial constitutional invalidity so as to render the conviction invalid for sentencing purposes. *Custis v. United States*, 511 U.S. 485, 496-97, 114 S. Ct. 1732, 128 L. Ed. 2d 517 (1994); *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 529, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). In *Custis v. United States*, the Supreme Court made it unequivocally clear that a defendant in a federal sentencing proceeding has no constitutional right to collaterally attack the validity of a prior conviction, unless it was obtained in violation of the right to counsel as established in *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963). *Custis* concerned a defendant who challenged the use of his prior convictions at a sentencing hearing for a variety of reasons including: 1) the denial of the effective assistance of counsel; 2) an involuntary guilty plea; and, 3) inadequate advisement of his rights in opting for a “stipulated facts” trial. In rejecting these as a basis for a sentencing court to review the constitutionality of the prior conviction, the United States Supreme Court articulated that one reason the denial of appointment of counsel is treated differently than other claims is the relative ease in determining whether such an infirmity exists as the “failure to appoint counsel at all will generally appear from the judgment roll itself, or from an accompanying minute order”, whereas “determination of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and failure

to assure that a guilty plea was voluntary, would require sentencing courts to rummage through frequently nonexistent or difficult to obtain state-court transcripts or records that may date from another era.” *Custis*, 511 at 496; see also *Johnson v. United States*, 544 U.S. 295, 303, 125 S. Ct. 1571, 161 L. Ed. 2d 542 (2005)(“We recognized only one exception to this rule that collateral attacks were off-limits [at sentencing hearings], and that was for challenges to state convictions allegedly obtained in violation of the right to appointed counsel.”).

The Washington Supreme court relied on *Custis* when reaching a similar conclusion as to the type of challenge that may be raised in a sentencing proceeding. See *State v. Roberts*, *supra*. Roberts asserted that the sentencing court should not have considered some of his Canadian convictions because there was no showing that he was informed of the same rights of which he would have been informed in an American court. The Court, noting that an attack on the validity of a plea does not implicate the facial constitutional validity of the judgment, rejected the argument stating:

Even were this true, the Canadian convictions would presumably still be admissible. See *Custis v. United States*, 511 U.S. 485, 496-97, 114 S. Ct. 1732, 128 L. Ed. 2d 517 (1994) (while denial of counsel renders a prior conviction per se invalid for sentencing purposes, other alleged errors, including involuntary plea, do not). *Custis* makes the same point this court made in *Ammons*: absent facial constitutional invalidity or an affirmative showing of infirmity by the defendant, the sentencing court should not be forced to conduct an appellate review of each of the



defendant's priors. *Custis*, 511 U.S. at 496; *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 188.

*State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d at 529. The *Roberts* decision reiterated the same concerns the Court had expressed in *Ammons* when it stated that allowing defendants to bring any sort of constitutional challenge would "turn the sentencing proceeding into an appellate review of all prior convictions." 105 Wn.2d at 188.

As noted in *Roberts* and *Custis*, if the defendant can show a previous judicial determination of the infirmity of a prior conviction or if the judgment reflects a denial of counsel on the prior conviction, then these claims, and only these claims, may be raised at a sentencing hearing to render the prior conviction constitutionally invalid for sentencing purposes. Other claims, even ones seemingly based on constitutional principles such as an involuntary plea, do not result in facial constitutional invalidity of a judgment. Under *Ammons*, those type of constitutional claims must be raised in a collateral attack in the court where the prior judgment was entered or by filing a personal restraint petition. *Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d at 188.

In the case now before the Court, defendant asked the Court to treat the 1992 conviction as being invalid on its face because it cited to the assault in the second degree statute that had been repealed in 1986- RCW 9A.36.020- rather the correct RCW 9A.36.021, which had been enacted to replace the former version of this offense. 1986 Laws of Washington Ch.

257, § 5, 9, 10. Defendant contends that his judgment shows that he was convicted of a crime that did not exist, relying upon *In re Personal Restraint of Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d 712, 10 P. 3d 380 (2000).

First and foremost, defendant's claim did not fall into either of the two constitutional challenges that may be raised in a sentencing hearing under *Roberts* and *Custis*: he did not allege that his prior conviction was obtained without the benefit of counsel, nor did he show a prior judicial determination that his 1992 conviction was constitutionally infirm. Thus, under *Ammons*, he must challenge his 1992 conviction in a personal restraint petition, rather than in the sentencing hearing on a new offense.

Additionally, defendant's reliance on *Thompson* is misplaced. *Thompson* concerned a defendant who entered a plea to first degree rape of a child for a crime that was alleged to have occurred between "1/1/85 through 12/31/86." The legislature did not enact this crime, however, until 1988, and improper sexual intercourse with minors occurring prior to that date had to meet the elements of a different crime- first degree statutory rape. *Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d at 717, 722. The court found that a judgment reflecting the commission of a crime before the legislature had criminalized that behavior constituted a facial invalidity such that the one year time bar for collateral attacks found in RCW 10.73.090 could not be applied to Thompson's untimely collateral attack.

The current case however, concerns a crime-assault in the second degree - that has long been on the books in the State of Washington.

*Adlington-Kelly*, 95 Wn.2d at 924 (since 1909 there has been more than one degree of assault in Washington). In 1986, the legislature repealed the statute proscribing assault in the second degree in RCW 9A.36.020 at the same time it enacted a new statute, RCW 9A.36.021, proscribing assault in the second degree. 1986 Laws of Washington, Ch. 257, § 5, 9, 10. These changes became effective on July 1, 1987. 1986 Laws of Washington, Ch. 257, § 12. Both the new and the old assault laws proscribed assaulting another with a deadly weapon, albeit in slightly different language. Compare, 1979 Laws of Washington, 1<sup>st</sup> Ex. Sess. Ch. 244, §9; (a person is guilty of assault in the second degree when he “shall knowingly assault another with a weapon or other instrument or thing likely to produce bodily harm.”), and 1986 Laws of Washington Ch. 257, § 5 (a person is guilty of assault in the second degree when he “assaults another with a deadly weapon.”). Despite the change in statutory language, the crime of assault in the second degree existed both before and after the 1986 legislative changes took effect; it was always illegal to assault another person with a knife. The error in defendant’s judgment concerned the statutory citation, which does not render it constitutionally infirm.

The trial court found the decision in *State v. Hopper*, 118 Wn.2d 151, 822 P.2d 775 (1992) instructive, as it presented a similar, albeit reverse, example of an erroneous statutory reference to assault in the second degree. Hopper had committed an assault in the second degree on June 30, 1988, the last day that RCW 9A.36.020 was in effect. The

information charging him cited to RCW 9A.36.021, which took effect on July 1, 1998. 118 Wn.2d at 159. Hopper raised a challenge to this defective information for the first time on appeal. The court summarily rejected his argument stating:

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